

## CITY OF REDONDO BEACH PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES Thursday, February 20, 2025

### **REGULAR MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION – 6:30 PM**

#### A. CALL TO ORDER

A regular meeting of the Planning Commission, held in the Redondo Beach Council Chambers at 415 Diamond Street, Redondo Beach, California was called to order by Chair Lamb at 6:30 p.m.

### B. ROLL CALL

Commissioners Present: Boswell (arrived at 6:38 p.m.), Conroy, Craig, Gaddis,

Hazeltine, Light and Chair Lamb

Officials Present: Marc Wiener, Community Development Director

Cheryl Park, Assistant City Attorney Diana Varat, Contract Counsel Sean Scully, Planning Manager Steven Giang, Senior Planner Jamaal Brown, Planning Analyst

## C. SALUTE TO THE FLAG

Commissioner Conroy led in the Salute to the Flag.

#### D. APPROVE ORDER OF AGENDA

Motion by Commissioner Gaddis, seconded by Commissioner Conroy, and approved by voice vote, the order of the agenda, as presented.

The motion carried 6-0-1, with Commissioner Boswell, absent.

#### E. BLUE FOLDER ITEMS – ADDITIONAL BACK UP MATERIALS

## E.1. RECEIVE AND FILE BLUE FOLDER ITEMS

Jamaal Brown, Planning Analyst, reported there was one Blue Folder Item.

Motion by Commissioner Gaddis, seconded by Commissioner Craig and carried by voice vote, to receive and file Blue Folder Items.

The motion carried 6-0-1, with Commissioner Boswell, absent.

#### F. CONSENT CALENDAR

# F.1. APPROVE AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING FOR THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING OF FEBRUARY 20, 2025

There were no public comments on Consent Calendar items.

Motion by Commissioner Gaddis, seconded by Commissioner Conroy, and approved by voice vote, the Consent Calendar, as presented.

The motion carried 6-0-1, with Commissioner Boswell, absent.

#### G. EXCLUDED CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS - None

#### H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

#### H.1. RECEIVE AND FILE PUBLIC WRITTEN COMMENTS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

Chair Lamb invited public comments.

Commissioner Boswell arrived at 6:38 p.m.

Rich McQuillin presented a status update of North Redondo Beach activities along Artesia Boulevard; talked about programing events and forming a BID; discussed the need for commercial businesses; expressed concerns about the loss of retail and noted his intent to elevate the commerce experience by enabling merchants to help customers accomplish their goals and fulfill needs instead of just buying products and reported his plan is to reactivate Artesia Boulevard and the Galleria as flagship sites.

Chair Lamb thanked Rich McQuillin for his continued involvement.

Discussion followed regarding making Artesia Boulevard into a Redondo Beach "Main Street".

Holly Osborne (via Zoom) spoke favorably about having a movie theater on Artesia Boulevard; wondered about five-foot setbacks for fire code compliance and whether the Board of Supervisors is thinking of suspending RHNA in light of the fires.

There were no other public comments on non-agenda items.

#### I. EX PARTE COMMUNICATION

Commissioner Craig reported speaking with Commissioner Gaddis, members of the public and staff regarding Item No. J.1.

Commissioner Gaddis reported speaking with Commissioner Craig and Councilmember Loewenstein.

Commissioner Conroy reported speaking with Mayor Light and Councilmember Loewenstein.

Commissioner Hazeltine reported speaking with Chair Lamb.

Chair Lamb reported speaking with Commissioner Hazeltine, Planning Manager Scully and a proponent.

#### J. PUBLIC HEARINGS

J.1. Public hearing for consideration of an Exemption Declaration, Conditional Use Permit (CUP-2024-0044), Planning Commission Design Review, and Subdivision (Vesting Tentative Tract Map No. 84401) to permit the construction of a Residential Condominium Project with 43 Units (three (3) of which are affordable to very low income households), located on three parcels (7505-010-015, 7505-010-036, and 7505-010-035) within a High Density Multiple-Family Residential (RH-2) zone and Low Density Multi-Family Residential (R-3) zone at 122 N. Pacific Coast Highway and 126 N. Pacific Coast Highway.

PROPERTY OWNER: Archdiocese of Los Angeles

**APPLICANT: City Ventures** 

LOCATION: 122 & 126 N. Pacific Coast Highway CASE NO: CUP-2024-0044; VTTM No. 84401

**RECOMMENDATION:** 

- 1. Open the public hearing and take testimony;
- 2. Close the public hearing;
- 3. Adopt the attached resolution by title only, waiving further reading.

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF REDONDO BEACH ADOPTING A CEQA EXEMPTION DECLARATION AND APPROVING THE REQUEST FOR A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT, PLANNING COMMISSION DESIGN REVIEW, AND SUBDIVISION (VESTING TENTATIVE TRACT MAP NO. 84401) TO PERMIT THE CONSTRUCTION OF A

RESIDENTIAL CONDOMINIUM PROJECT WITH 43 UNITS, THREE OF WHICH ARE AFFORDABLE TO VERY LOW INCOME HOUSEHOLDS, LOCATED ON THREE PARCELS (7505-010-015, 7505-010-036, AND 7505-010-035) WITHIN A HIGH DENSITY MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (RH-2) ZONE AND LOW DENSITY MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (R-3) ZONE AT 122 AND 126 N. PACIFIC COAST HIGHWAY AND 208 CENTRAL COURT (CASE NO. CUP-2024-0044)

Motion by Commissioner Gaddis, seconded by Commissioner Craig, and approved by voice vote, to open the public hearing.

The motion carried 7-0.

Community Development Director Wiener introduced the item; presented a brief background; addressed SB 330, objective and subjective standards and the Planning Commission's role and deferred to staff for a presentation.

Senior Planner Giang narrated a PowerPoint presentation with details of the proposed project.

Chair Lamb administered an oath to those planning on speaking regarding this item.

Patrick Chen, City Ventures Development, narrated a PowerPoint presentation with details of their proposal.

Discussion followed regarding including the site in the Housing Element as a Designated Housing site, income requirements for affordable housing units, having one project entry, using drought resistant landscaping, location of the garages, setbacks, cutting down into the site three or four feet, the length of the affordable housing covenant (45 years) and disbursing affordable housing units mixed with market rate units.

In response to an inquiry from the Commission, Community Development Director Wiener reported there is no requirement that the units be uniform in design.

Commissioner Boswell mentioned lesser units would normally be less expensive and talked about distinctions between affordable units and market rate units.

Chris Bert, Cox Castle, Land Use Counsel, addressed the term of affordability and design of the units.

Community Development Director Wiener reported Diana Varat, from the City Attorney's office, is online, representing the City and explained the economic realities of affordable housing projects and the need to make them affordable by design.

Discussion followed regarding State law requirements for buyers, deed restrictions, changes in affordability levels, site constraints, additional development incentives, conversations with residents regarding parking and whether the City would consider permitted parking, visitor parking, impacts on street parking, daily vehicle trips generated by the project, left turn restrictions, guest parking spaces, school trips generated and addressing additional traffic from people taking their kids to school.

Abby Pal, Transportation Planner, City Ventures, discussed traffic and parking impact study guidelines and requirements; talked about studies that were not required and reported the only analysis done was a VMT screening analysis relative to trip generation impacts.

Commissioner Conroy talked about the number of vehicles that will be added to the surrounding streets by the project and wondered where the additional cars will park.

Community Development Director Wiener explained the Municipal Code provides for a certain number of parking spaces required for this many units; reported in this case, 100 parking spaces are required by Code, the applicant is proposing 93 as 7 have been reduced due to density bonus law and stated if the City is interested in finding out impacts to parking in the surrounding neighborhoods, staff would need to formulate something to change the Code and have it be a development standard requirement.

Discussion followed regarding the possibility of adding diagonal parking, ensuring no action is taken that would reduce the footprint of the buildings and developing a creative solution to provide additional parking on the site.

Commissioner Craig noted existing traffic problems in the area and opined the project will aggravate an existing problem.

Traffic Consultant Pal acknowledged the existence of heavy traffic during school dropoffs and pick-ups; discussed peak hours and trips generated and stated the experience of traffic will be much less than what is being experienced on the site, presently.

Planning Manager Scully pointed out that the City's Traffic Engineer vetted the report closely with the Traffic Consultant and confirmed this will reduce morning congestion time because of the current daycare use and there will be a significant net reduction in traffic and parking need at the project site as a result of the change is use from children's daycare to the proposed residential development.

Commissioner Hazeltine spoke about the addition of a "no left hand turn" condition which she felt will move traffic into nearby residential neighborhoods and noted that is a concern.

Discussion followed regarding when the survey was conducted, trips during peak hours, without and with the project, left hand restrictions for safety, the proximity of the driveway

to PCH and circulation, the number of guest parking spaces, exceeding the State density bonus law, height limits, trip generation surveys, impacts on elementary and middle schools.

Chris Bert, Cox Castle, Land Use Counsel, referenced materials in the agenda packet specifically as it relates to Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) generated by the analysis for specific uses and noted that standard measures were used.

Commissioner Boswell stated he would like to understand where the study may not be complete; concluded that unless the applicant is forced to do something, they do not do it; asserted the project needs a larger lot in a less trafficked environment and noted he sees an effort to maximize the developer's profits at the expense of the quality of life of the people in the general residential neighborhood and that once it is done, it will be too late.

The applicant responded to questions from Commissioner Conroy regarding the minimum ceiling heights, the reason for proposing nine feet, waivers provided as part of the density bonus law and the need to offset the loss of income from the affordable units.

Planning Manager Scully reported the City has identified this site as one where it would like to see affordable housing within the Housing Element, and this was a joint decision by the City and the applicant.

In reply to Commissioner Hazeltine's question, Assistant City Attorney Park reported that under the density bonus law, a developer can build without the advantage of that, but once they add affordable units, the density bonus law kicks in. She added that if the developer requests concessions for waivers, the City is restricted, by law, on denying those concessions for waivers; addressed calculations regarding parking per unit types and noted the City is constrained in terms of what it can require. She reported in this instance, they are not requesting concessions, but they are requesting waivers, which are unlimited, at this point.

Commissioner Craig summarized that because of the law, unless there is extreme, solid objective reasons to say that something cannot be done, the Planning Commission is basically here to review a project that has already been approved and there is not a whole lot the Commission can do with respect to waivers and parking.

In response to Commissioner Conroy's question, Assistant City Attorney Park reported the City Code requires 100 parking spaces, however, because the density bonus law kicks in, the maximum they have to provide is 65, but in this case, they are providing 91. She added that the only way the City can deny a project, is if there is an objective standard that they are not meeting.

Community Development Director Wiener added that in addition to the density bonus law, SB 330 limits the City's decision-making ability.

Discussion continued regarding denying waivers and Redondo Beach being in the top 10% of dense cities.

Commissioner Hazeltine talked about the importance of each unit looking the same in order not to distinguish between affordable units and market-rate units in design and materials used and spoke against clustering affordable units in one location.

Patrick Chen reported the materials for the affordable units are comparable to those used for the market-rate units.

Commissioner Boswell spoke about parking demands from Redondo Union High School during events and the proposed project exacerbating the problem of insufficient parking and discussed a smaller project with parking for residents and visitors contained within the site.

Chair Lamb invited public comments and administered the oath to speakers prior to them addressing the Commission.

Patrick Cunningham, St. James parishioner and architect, spoke in favor of the project; noted the City needs the additional housing and thanked the Planning Commission for its consideration.

Vince Barbare, St. James parishioner, spoke in favor of the project; discussed affordability and felt it is the right thing to do for the next generation.

Carl Hinkle spoke in support of the project; noted the need for more housing in the City; reported it has taken years in planning to get to this stage of the project and urged the Commission to approve it.

Joanne Modic reported she lives on St. Vincent; voiced support for the project; listed some of its benefits and urged the Commission to approve it.

Father Matt Murphy, Pastor, St. James, provided a brief history of the parish; noted it is a landmark in the community and spoke in support of the project.

Davis Hunt spoke in favor of the project and the need for affordable housing in the City; stated he has a law degree and still cannot afford to buy a house in Redondo Beach and urged the Commission to approve the project and give young adults opportunities for purchasing a home in the City.

Alex Fineman voiced support for the proposed project; discussed the need for affordable housing in Redondo Beach, especially in light of people being displaced by the recent fires; felt the new households will help combat declining enrollment in schools; urged the Commission to address affordable housing, specifically, rather than using the need for affordable housing as a fig leaf to conceal opposition to new housing, generally; encouraged the Commission to support affordable housing but any new housing is critical to begin addressing the City's housing needs.

Helen DeGrass talked about the project being categorically exempt from CEQA guidelines and that approval of the project would not result in significant impacts related to traffic noise, water, and air quality; reported that City Ventures has multiple lawsuits in various cities, specific to water pollution and harmful business practices during construction that were proven to violate environmental laws. She noted her opposition and questioned the number of proposed stories; expressed concerns over obstructed views, increased traffic congestion, inadequate guest parking and changes to the character of the neighborhood and urged the Commission to give consideration to nearby homeowners in the neighborhood and oppose the project.

Jeff Goldman, Owner, 413 Emerald Street and speaking on behalf of two of his neighbors, all living in historic homes and asserted that the neighborhood is threatened by the proposed development; acknowledged the City's limitations; addressed the City's Historic Preservation Plan; noted the historic homes are at the mercy of street parking and expressed concerns that the project will make it virtually impossible for anyone to live in the area.

Motion by Commissioner Hazeltine, seconded by Commissioner Gaddis, and approved by voice vote, to extend Jeff Goldman's time for commenting.

The motion carried 7-0.

Jeff Goldman hoped that the Commission would consider issuing residential parking permits for residents in the neighborhood with 6 spots directly in front of the 3 subject properties to serve the people who reside in the 3 historical homes.

Chris Bert, Cox Castle, Land Use Counsel, asserted that imposing a residential parking permit as a condition on this project would be inappropriate and would be a separate City issue.

Ethan Cole, 62 Beryl, talked about a community being built in the area and families with small children living there; addressed typical hours of drop-offs and pick-ups from nearby schools and spoke in support of the project.

Brianna Egan, South Bay Forward, referenced a letter of support submitted by the organization and listed points of concern and potential solutions for each, including

addressing the lack of parking with a parking permit program; noted homeowners are looking for walkable and bike-able neighborhoods; reiterated the Commission's obligation to approve the project and asked that the Commission approve the project to address the local housing crisis.

Beth Blyther and Frank Gibbs, residing on the corner of Redondo and Francisco, narrated a PowerPoint presentation listing significant impacts to parking, traffic and low density zoning by the proposed project.

Motion by Commissioner Hazeltine, seconded by Commissioner Gaddis, and approved by voice vote, to extend Beth Blyther's and Frank Gibbs's time for commenting.

The motion carried 7-0.

Beth Blyther and Frank Gibbs continued with their presentation and noted the City is not meeting its General Plan objectives and that the project has no "upside" and benefits only the developer.

Jeff Balec (via Zoom), Civil Engineer, listed concerns in terms of separation of power; talked about the Commission being powerless and staff making a decision to offer affordable housing; wondered if the requirement for affordable housing needs to be in the particular area; reported he contacted staff but was unable to get all technical information on the project; questioned whether the parcels will be combined or remain as separate parcels; felt that the affordable units should be offered; pointed out that all variances apply to the larger parcels because of the affordable units across the street and noted it is not comparable and the affordable units should be offered on that particular parcel. He opined the developer would be creating a ghetto out of the seven units if the larger parcel is getting all the benefits.

Motion by Commissioner Boswell, to extend Jeff Balec's time for commenting.

The motion died for lack of a second.

It was noted that the speaker has 30 seconds to conclude his comments.

Jeff Balec (via Zoom) talked about the effects of the project on the quality of life of nearby neighborhoods and impacts to water quality.

Holly Osborne (via Zoom) questioned whether the two-car garages really hold two cars; understood the HOA will require that residents park in the garages; noticed that the proposed units are missing middle-income housing and spoke favorably about the developers.

Anna Hinkle spoke about the importance community; shared her background coming to this country from Brazil and noted that Redondo Beach is her home because the community embraced her and her son when they moved here. Now, her son is a Stanford graduate but is unable to return to Redondo Beach because he cannot afford a house here and spoke in support of the project as a way to give back to the community.

Michael Schneider opposed the project; felt they are not providing much in terms of affordable housing (3%); talked about the waivers causing damage to the community; expressed concerns with obstructed views and questioned why there needs to be affordable housing in the most expensive part of the City.

Ellen, M.D. expressed disappointment with the project; noted the proposed affordable housing is only 3% and rising housing costs; opined there are no benefits for the community market rate units will not be affordable for young people and discussed high traffic volumes in the area.

Linda Dufrain and neighbor, Susan, thanked the Commission for trying to address neighbors' concerns; stated there is no permit parking in her neighborhood; reported she will lose her view and expressed concerns about decreased property values. She and Susan reported they are seriously considering moving out of Redondo Beach and thanked the Commission for trying.

Frank Gibbs mentioned that the Administrative Report calls the three affordable units, "insignificant"; referenced State RHNA mandates; added the project provides .002% of the City's RHNA units and understood the City must follow State mandates, but the City decides where those units are located. He pointed out the property is not within the affordable housing overlay and did not believe the City has no choice.

In reply to Chair Lamb's inquiry, Planning Manager Scully reported the City has a number of sites that were identified in the Housing Element that provide the capacity to accommodate the 1,900 affordable housing units assigned to the City under RHNA, and this site is one of those. He added this is a location that would accommodate affordable housing and discussed the findings needed to deny the project.

In reply to Commissioner Boswell's question, Planning Manager Scully noted that the Housing Element identifies this site for 12 very-low income units and pointed out that the City is not mandated to require it.

Community Development Director Wiener added there is a program within the Housing Element that requires the City to evaluate an inclusionary housing ordinance where the City may be able to impose requirements in the future, on a certain percentage that need to be affordable and reported the City has not yet adopted such an ordinance, that State HCD is viewing those ordinances less favorably. Additionally, he addressed the

affordable housing component of this project and noted the major factor involves SB 330 and how it limits the City to review or deny the project more than density bonus law.

Commissioner Light summarized discussions noting that the City's hands are tied but wondered what the Commission can do to help.

Community Development Director Wiener deferred to Legal Counsel Diana Varat.

Legal Counsel Varat (via Zoom) reported the Commission could consider adding a reasonable condition of approval that would improve the project; stated that given that the application complies with the applicable objective standards, the hands of the Commission are tied, but the Commission needs to make findings of approval in order to approve the project.

Chair Lamb stated it appears that the major complaint is parking, and the City cannot continue to ignore that parking in the area will be an issue; believed it adds stress to the community and wondered about the mechanisms the City can use to relieve the stress and problems associated with parking on adjacent streets.

Community Development Director Wiener spoke about the possibility of implementing a resident parking permit program and mentioned that long term, the City may want to look at increasing the parking standards.

Planning Manager Scully reported that parking permit procedures are handled by the City's Public Works Department and addressed the process for implementing a residential parking permit program.

Chair Lamb addressed members of the St. James Parish and hoped they understand the impact this development is making on the neighborhood; suggested working together to initiate a parking permit program; talked about being one community, accepting the responsibility and developing solutions that will cause less stress than the project is causing.

Commissioner Hazeltine asked for information about storm water capturing on the property.

Ryan Bitner, CNV Consulting, Civil Engineer, discussed preparation of a preliminary hydrology study and a preliminary low impact development plan and noted they are included in the reports and are part of the design.

Commissioner Hazeltine talked about preventing water from going into the gutter.

Ryan Bitner reported they were required to make a direct connection to the County public storm drain; noted they capture the water, on-site with a series of catch basins, the flows

enter a pipe which enters the water quality treatment facilities to dry wells that infiltrate the water.

Commissioner Hazeltine called to ensure that landscaping uses California-native, drought-tolerant plants.

Jose Casares, C2 Collaborative, Landscape Architect, spoke about the proposed plant palette; noted the need to consider proximity to the coast and felt the proposed pallet will perform well long term. He agreed to ensure that California-native, drought-tolerant landscaping is used and responded to questions from Commissioner Hazeltine regarding the proposed passive recreation area.

Commissioner Hazeltine asked that the developer consider moving the 3 affordable units within the 6 market-rate units to avoid the stigma of living in low-income housing.

Patrick Chen, City Ventures Development, stated that to change the design at this point would not be feasible.

The Project Architect, reiterated that affordable units are already mixed in with marketrate units and reported that building materials will be the same inside and out.

Assistant City Attorney Park suggested that since the developer has indicated that they will make a requirement that cars be parked inside garages, within the CC&Rs, the Commission may want to ask the developer if there is a problem including that as a condition in the entire entitlement resolution and in addition, memorialize, as a condition, the use of the same materials for the outside and the inside for both the affordable units and the market-rate units.

Chair Lamb spoke about climate change and considering the ultimate height and canopy of the proposed trees and wondered how the proposed trees will mitigate the impacts of climate change on this project.

Jose Casares, C2 Collaborative, Landscape Architect, discussed the process of developing a plant palate, the use of trees for screening and shade opportunities and considering plants/trees in the design.

Discussion followed regarding the lack of provisions or standards regarding shade, placing conditions that would ensure adequate shade and having the applicant work with staff to craft the appropriate language.

Assistant City Attorney Park suggested including language that, "All landscaping shall be in accordance with the City's landscape regulations including compliance with the Redondo Beach Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance and providing a shade canopy will

be discussed, if feasible". She added that Planning Manager Scully can produce correct verbiage for the condition.

Patrick Chen offered to review that with staff.

Assistant City Attorney Park summarized the issues of concern involve use of Californianative drought-tolerant plants, requiring residents to park in their garages to be included in the CC&Rs and addressing shade and benches.

Chair Lamb pointed out the location of the proposed project has many historical homes surrounding it and suggested that the project be integrated into that historical context.

Patrick Chen stated they feel this design fits in better (seacoast modern) with the aesthetic of the City.

Discussion followed regarding the seacoast modern design, the possibility of changing the color scheme to integrate the project into the historical context and whether the project fits in the neighborhood.

Chris Bert, Cox Castle, Land Use Counsel mentioned that to mandate changes in design would require substantial costs.

Assistant City Attorney Park added that as long as the developer is open to having a discussion about the issues discussed and the possibility of investigating different components of the design that would be more in line with the historical homes in the neighborhood.

Patrick Chen noted they are willing to investigate different designs, but stated it is inappropriate to mandate it.

Assistant City Attorney Park asked the developer to have a dialogue with staff regarding those items and Patrick Chen, voiced his agreement.

Discussion followed regarding the feasibility of changing the color palette, having a sensitivity to the historical context, leaving a lot to interpretation, existing old Spanish style homes in the neighborhood, the possibility of all-white units and the possibility of the Planning Commission's input making the project more marketable.

Discussion continued regarding setting the prices for the market-rate units.

Commissioner Conroy asked about the estimated sales price of market-rate units and Patrick Chen reported home sales in the area are over \$1.5 million.

Commissioner Conroy questioned the size of the units if the goal of the City is to expand housing options for first-time buyers in Redondo Beach; believed the community would benefit more from studios, one-bedroom and two-bedroom units, helping them qualify for loans, build credit and gain equity toward upgrading to larger homes; asserted that these oversized units do little to help people; talked about using this experience to consider first-time buyers in the future and felt the developer can still achieve strong returns while providing affordable housing and staying within the City's zoning restrictions.

Discussion followed regarding retaining walls, locations and sites.

Commissioner Craig spoke about the low percentage of affordable units being offered by the developer; discussed transfer taxes and benefits to the City; talked about public services needed to support additional residents and diminished returns as the City gets to a certain density; addressed the costs of the units and asserted one cannot provide affordable housing unless it is subsidized in some way. Additionally, he asserted that members of the Commission care about the City.

Patrick Chen stated he has nothing more to add; noted working closely with staff to present a good product and thanked the Commission for its consideration.

Commissioner Boswell talked about homeownership and affordability in the City; discussed people buying "starter" homes and working up and opined the project is damaging the community, building something too big for the lot into a community that is already dense. He discussed the need to address the lack of parking; commented on the three affordable units not being sufficient and another project having to "pick up the slack" and mentioned a domino effect of what the project is doing to the City. Additionally, he claimed that if the developer wants to be a good neighbor, he/she needs to reduce the number of units to accommodate enough parking for the people who buy these units or suggested that St. James offer its parking lot.

In response to a question from Commissioner Gaddis, Community Development Director Wiener, discussed the appeal process if the Planning Commission decides to deny the project.

Assistant City Attorney Park reiterated that if the Commission is inclined to deny the project, it must make the findings and these would need to be included in the resolution; suggested that before proceeding, the Commission should continue the matter, provide direction regarding on what grounds the Commission is denying the project and staff would return to the Commission with a resolution of denial. At that point, she added that the applicant could appeal to City Council, that Council's decision is final and depending on the decision, the parties may file suit. She noted there will need to be specific references to objective design standards not met by the project and where there are impacts to health and safety that cannot be mitigated.

Chair Lamb pointed out that so far, there are no findings that the project is a threat to health and safety and therefore, the City does not have the requisite findings to deny the project.

Motion by Commissioner Conroy, seconded by Commissioner Hazeltine, and approved by voice vote, to close the public hearing.

The motion carried 6-1. Commissioner Boswell was opposed.

Commissioner Hazeltine reiterated the Commission has no grounds to deny the project.

Discussion followed regarding liability to the City if the project is denied.

Motion by Commissioner Hazeltine to approve the project with the added conditions.

Planning Manager Scully reviewed the proposed strikethroughs and additions as shown on the slide.

Chair Lamb talked about the Commission not being able to direct staff and asked for clarification.

Assistant City Attorney Park suggested completing this discussion first.

Planning Manager Scully continued addressing the changes reflecting the conditions discussed earlier and Assistant City Attorney Park and members of the Commission offered edits made directly on the screen.

Discussion followed regarding the CC&Rs, enforcement by the HOA, having residents work with staff to request a parking permit program, recommendations to Council, whether CC&Rs can keep an individual from parking on a public street and stating that the garage shall only be used for parking.

Commissioner Craig seconded the motion, which carried, 6-0-1, with the following roll call vote:

AYES: Conroy, Craig, Gaddis, Hazeltine, Light and

Chair Lamb

NOES: None
ABSTAIN: Boswell
ABSENT: None

## K. ITEMS CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS AGENDAS - None

#### L. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION PRIOR TO ACTION - None

#### M. ITEMS FROM STAFF - None

## N. COMMISSION MEMBER ITEMS AND FUTURE COMMISSION AGENDA TOPICS

Assistant City Attorney Park suggested the Commission could move to have staff address, during the strategic plan, to have the City Council consider parking, traffic and permit parking in certain neighborhoods in the City.

Commissioner Light stated that any project triggering waivers of reduced parking should be ones that Council mitigates.

Assistant City Attorney Park talked about parcels that have been identified for affordable housing in the Housing Element and reiterated that the Commission can direct staff to, during strategic planning, bring up the issues that the Planning Commission have around parking, or it can be brought up during City Manager Items or Commission members can attend City Council meetings to talk about the issue, as a member of the public.

Community Development Director Wiener talked about development of objective standards; noted developers have shown a willingness to work with the City and mentioned the possibility of providing incentives to developers for addressing neighborhood compatibility such as a reduction in building permit fees. He suggested placing an item on the next agenda to have a special discussion on this topic.

In response to Chair Lamb's inquiry, Assistant City Attorney Park reiterated ways in which the Commission could refer this matter to the City Council, including having staff return with a resolution.

Community Development Director Wiener announced he will check with the City Manager for clarification and inform the Commission in an upcoming meeting.

## O. ADJOURNMENT – 11:27 p.m.

Motion by Commissioner Conroy, seconded by Commissioner Gaddis, and approved by voice vote, to adjourn the meeting at 11:27 p.m.

The motion carried 7-0.

The next meeting of the Redondo Beach Planning Commission will be a regular meeting to be held at 6:30 p.m. on March 20, 2025, in the Redondo Beach Council Chambers, at 415 Diamond Street, Redondo Beach, California.

All written comments submitted via eCommer for public review on the City website.	nt are included in the record and available
	Respectfully submitted,
	Marc Wiener Community Development Director